

	
	
	



GFO-23-313
Deployment of Decarbonization Technologies and Strategies for CA Industrial Facilities (INDIGO Program) Round 3
January 23rd, 2026
Questions and Answers Document
Disclaimer
The following answers are based on California Energy Commission (CEC) staff’s interpretation of the questions received. It is the Applicant’s responsibility to review the Solicitation Manual and to determine whether their proposed project is eligible for funding by reviewing the Eligibility Requirements within the solicitation. The CEC cannot give definitive advice as to whether a particular project is eligible for funding, because not all proposal details are known.
Project and Technology Eligibility
1. Are publicly owned wastewater treatment plants eligible to participate in this program as the deployment facility for a (proposed) decarbonization technology?

CEC: Yes, if the publicly owned wastewater treatment plant is existing, it is considered eligible as an industrial demonstration site. The project must meet all requirements in Section II. Eligibility Requirements. 

2. Can an engineering consultant company be the prime applicant leading a team of equipment manufacturers, public utility, and others (e.g., contractors required for installation of the proposed equipment)?

CEC: Yes, an engineering consultant company is eligible to be the prime applicant. The project must meet all requirements in Section II. Eligibility Requirements.

3. I am with a sanitary district, and we are severely power constrained at present. We are looking into opportunities to address the issue. Would we be considered an eligible industrial applicant for the new INDIGO Round 3 funding? We’re considering onsite generation through solar, improved methane capture at our digester, or both. I want to make sure we’re eligible before we finalize the scope.

CEC: Yes, if the sanitary district is existing, it is considered eligible as an industrial demonstration site. Projects that support industrial decarbonization, including those that partially or fully electrify industrial processes, implement onsite renewable generation (e.g., solar), and improve methane capture are eligible project types. The project must meet all requirements in Section II. Eligibility Requirements. 

4. The project is to create a factory facility that will process excess forest biomass into a potting product for California horticulture as a replacement for peat moss. The project entails use of machines that process wood chips into a fibrous product that horticulture can use in their potting mixes, to replace or supplement GHG intensive imported materials (peat and coco coir). 
 
The project meets the following requirements in Section II.B, 1+2, of the Grant Funding Opportunity Addendum 8:
 
1-Implements a cutting-edge, emerging technology of TRL 9 that has not been deployed in California but has been proven commercially in Europe and East Coast US for at least a decade. The technology is extruder machines engineered specifically for the purpose of producing wood fiber potting substrate from woody biomass for horticulture. 
2-The process is electrified, offsets high GHG impacts of extracting peat and of transporting peat and coco coir from distant locations, is scalable to numerous locations throughout California, provides air pollution benefits by reducing wildfire risk to priority populations and beyond.
3-Initial demonstration project will be located in a disadvantaged and low-income area, has demonstrated public support, and will provide additional jobs.
 
The process is an alternative process that uses an alternative feedstock to switch from raw materials that release GHG emissions. Currently the horticulture industry has a high dependence on peat moss from Canada and coco coir from SE Asia for potting and amendment mixes. Peat moss extraction from peat bog carbon sinks causes release of CO2 from the sinks, and transport GHG impacts from Canada are high. Coco coir has high transport GHG impacts. Using a local material reduces these impacts by a factor of 5, while assisting with fire mitigation efforts, which ultimately help retain the carbon sink of existing forests. 

However, the process would cause additional use of electrical power in the state as processing takes place, and the project does not directly "use alternative processing approaches that replace carbon-intensive thermal energy use" as described in the solicitation manual. It does, however, replace the carbon-intensive energy use of importing foreign materials for horticulture. 
 
Note that the intended plan would use electricity from a biomass electrical generation plant, rather than from the grid. 
 
Does this project qualify for application for the INDIGO grant?

CEC: This program is open to existing industrial facilities, utilities, equipment manufacturers, energy service companies, project aggregators, and project developers who propose to implement projects in California’s industrial sector (Section II.A. Applicant Requirements).  

Qualifying projects must achieve at least one of the following goals from Section II.B. Project Requirements at the industrial demonstration site(s).  Additional points may be awarded for projects meeting multiple goals: 
· Electrify some or all industrial processes
· Maximize GHG emission reductions
· Drive scalability and application of project technology to other facilities/industries/processes
· Reduce electrical demand during net peak periods
· Provide air pollution benefits to priority populations

5. Solar Thermal Technology Eligibility - Are solar thermal projects focused on decarbonizing food plant industrial processes eligible? 
a. We note that these projects will meet at least 3 of the 5 stated program goals (C. Project Focus, B.1. Eligibility), reducing food plant gas use. 
b. We ask as a clarification (1) noting Q&A Round 1, question 39 explicitly referred to "solar thermal system hybridized with electrification," whereas our projects will solely produce heat energy for the industrial heat processes; (2) Section II.B.2. does not explicitly list solar thermal as an eligible technology, and (3) Section II.B.2. states that "Additional technologies could be added as a result of comments received during the written questions period (see Section I.E., Key Activities Schedule). However, these technologies must be consistent with the purposes of the solicitation (Section I.A.). Any added technologies will be posted in an addendum."

CEC: The application of solar thermal energy to an industrial process qualifies as an eligible technology. The project must achieve at least one of the following goals from Section II.B. Project Requirements at the industrial demonstration site(s).  Additional points may be awarded for projects meeting multiple goals: 
· Electrify some or all industrial processes
· Maximize GHG emission reductions
· Drive scalability and application of project technology to other facilities/industries/processes
· Reduce electrical demand during net peak periods
· Provide air pollution benefits to priority populations

6. Seasonal operation — Are commercial projects that only operate during the host processing season (~100–120 days/yr) eligible?

CEC: Seasonal operational projects are eligible; however, they would likely be scored alongside projects that operate year-round and should clearly articulate their project benefits in their applications. For example, in Section IV.F Stage Two: Application Scoring, the Scoring Criterion for Electric Grid Benefits states:
 
To receive additional points, the proposed project must reduce overall electric usage (kWh) during the project facility’s utility rate peak periods. These reductions can result from implementing energy efficiency, load management, or electric generation and/or storage projects. If multiple facilities are bundled under one application, an analysis must be provided for each individual facility. Additionally, explain whether these reductions result from energy efficiency, load flexibility, or energy generation and/or storage projects.

For this criterion, the application should make clear whether the processing season coincides with the utility rate peak periods. 

7. Applicant model — Can a developer of an on-site project selling energy to a facility under a heat/power purchase agreement apply as the applicant? Or does the host facility have to apply directly?

CEC: The developer is an eligible Prime Applicant. The project must meet all requirements in Section II. Eligibility Requirements.

Administrative

8. Can you confirm whether the INDIGO Calculator (filename: cec_indigo_finalcalculator_v2) adequately addresses the scope of eligible projects listed in the Inputs_AB1550 tab.
Some examples on that tab, under Step 3 where it lists specific Benefits:
· Two of the four benefits (listed as items A and B) are related to benefits (use cases) in a residential setting. Such as residential energy efficiency upgrades (A), and residential energy cost savings (B). Whereas INDIGO is fundamentally targeting industrial use cases, not residential use cases. So these benefits seem not applicable/possible from projects funded by the INDIGO program.
· Item C specifies benefits from reducing “on-site criteria air pollutant or toxic air contaminant emissions through reduction of fossil fuel consumption via efficiency improvements or electrification”. But this appears to omit reductions in fossil fuel consumption through other eligible INDIGO project types such as alternative feedstocks and carbon capture.

CEC: Yes, the INDIGO Calculator adequately addresses the scope of this solicitation. For CCUS projects, the estimated GHG emission savings should be quantified and justified in the Impacts and Benefits section. Step 3 Items A and B may not be applicable for INDIGO projects but are included for consistency across various California Climate Investments programs and in support of Assembly Bill (AB) 1550. Item C supports the reporting purposes of AB 1550, while impacts and benefits from all eligible technologies should be documented on the “Inputs_General” tab and in the Project Narrative. Similarly, please address any impacts and benefits that cannot be captured in the calculator in the Project Narrative section of the application.

9. Completion date - In Q&A Round 1, question 53, it is clarified that completion shall be no later than June 30, 2028. This is adjusted to June 30, 2030, in the Addendum 07 Section I.E. Key Activities Schedule. Can you offer further description for the definition of "completion"? What specific deliverable or milestone(s) must be met to achieve the “completion of the agreement” deadline?

CEC: Completion means the end of the agreement. The agreement end date is project dependent and specified in each project agreement and may not extend beyond the liquidation date, which is the final date by which CEC has legal authority to pay funds obligated under the agreement. Completion of the agreement includes final delivery and CEC acceptance of all required products and deliverables, satisfactory completion of all tasks identified in the scope of work, and submission of the final invoice for payment in accordance with the agreement terms.

10. Beginning of Project - Section IV.B.2. states that "grant recipients may begin the project only after full execution of the grant agreement." Can stages of engineering begin prior to execution of the grant agreement? For example, completion of requisite geotechnical studies, early stage design?

CEC: Any activities, including but not limited to engineering, completed prior to agreement execution will not be reimbursed and are not eligible to count towards project match funds.

CEQA, Environmental Review, and Monitoring

11. How much time does CEC need to review CEQA info from a Lead Agency in order for CEC to do its own review? 

CEC: After Notice of Proposed Award (NOPA) release, CEC will work with selected recipients to develop agreements in preparation for business meeting approval. While timelines vary by project, completion of the full project package, including CEQA documentation review, is typically anticipated within 45 days of each NOPA. 

See Section I.E. Key Activities Schedule for key activities, dates, and times for this solicitation.

Please note, failure to complete the CEQA process in a timely manner after the CEC’s NOPA may, in the CEC’s sole discretion and without limiting any of the CEC’s other rights and remedies, result in the cancellation of a proposed award and allocation of funding elsewhere, such as to the next highest-scoring project.

12. When should CEQA information from a Lead Agency be submitted to CEC in order to give CEC enough time for review prior to the encumbrance deadline of June 30th?

CEC: The time required for CEC to review CEQA information is project dependent. Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage early with their lead agency, as early coordination helps support providing sufficient information at the application stage to demonstrate progress toward CEQA compliance, consistent with the requirements in Sections I.I. Additional Requirements Regarding Environmental Review and CEQA Compliance Form (Attachment 06).

Following release of the NOPA, the CEC will work with selected recipients to develop agreements in preparation for business meeting approval. While timelines vary by project, completion of the full project package, including CEC’s review of CEQA documentation, is typically anticipated within approximately 45 days of each NOPA.

The full project package must be completed prior to proceeding to a business meeting and would include, as applicable, final and available CEQA documentation (e.g., Notice of Determination, Final EIR, Negative or Mitigated Negative Declaration, Notice of Exemption).

See Section I.E. Key Activities Schedule for key activities, dates, and times for this solicitation. 

Please note, failure to complete the CEQA process in a timely manner after the CEC’s NOPA may, in the CEC’s sole discretion and without limiting any of the CEC’s other rights and remedies, result in the cancellation of a proposed award and allocation of funding elsewhere, such as to the next highest-scoring project.

13. Is final CEQA determination by the Lead Agency required by the application deadline of February 23?

CEC: The CEQA determination may be under review at time of proposal but could result in agreement development delays if received later. Timing is project dependent, and projects are expected to have CEQA determination completed by the time of the Business Meeting.

See Section I.E. Key Activities Schedule for key activities, dates, and times for this solicitation.

14. Is a letter from the Lead Agency stating that an Initial Study is under way enough to meet application filing requirements for the application deadline of February 23?

CEC: See questions 11-13.

15. Air permitting — For projects that displace or modify boilers, is an issued/updated air permit required at the application stage?

CEC: Issued/updated permits are not required at the time of application, though having such permits would be considered favorably in scoring. Neither are such permits required at the time of business meeting approval. However, failure to obtain any required permits or updates thereto constitutes grounds for voiding an agreement. The Project Narrative should discuss any outstanding permitting issues (e.g., local air districts), local community issues, and/or equipment performance tests to be completed prior to equipment installation at the facility(ies) and how and when the project team plans to resolve these matters.  
See Section I.E. Key Activities Schedule for key activities, dates, and times for this solicitation.

16. M&V — Given the solicitation’s 4-month pre-install and 12-month post-install minima, will the Commission accept a seasonal post-install measurement (one full season) plus normalization (e.g., CO₂ avoided per unit processed)?

CEC: Please see Addendum 9 of the Solicitation Manual. The minimum period of measurement required to meet this solicitation, as stated in Section II.B.3. Measurement and Verification Plan, is as follows:
· Pre-installation: 
· A minimum of 4 months pre-installation on the equipment and systems to be retrofitted/replaced or one season for seasonal operations.
· Post-installation:
· A minimum of 12 months post-installation on the equipment/systems installed or one season for seasonal operations.
Match Funding

17. We note that in Q&A Round 1 question 62 it is clarified that any DOE OCED funding used as part of the minimum 25% Matching Funds must be in place at the time of making application.
a. Stacking - Are there any restrictions (absolute or as a %) regarding stacking from federal programs (e.g. DOE OCED) or other California incentive programs? Same question regarding any incentives offered by 3rd party sources?
CEC: There are no restrictions on stacking, but all match funds – regardless of source – must be backed by commitment letters providing an unqualified commitment (i.e., without reservations or limitations) that guarantees the funds will be available for the project at the time of application. Federal programs (e.g. DOE OCED), other California incentive programs, and any incentives offered by 3rd party sources are eligible as other project related sources under the match funds definition. If the applicant is leveraging or pursuing funding from multiple sources of the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF), the applicant must describe all existing or potential GGRF sources in its application materials. 

As stated in Section I.K. Match Funding and Section II. B. Applicant Requirements, match funds do not include: INDIGO program awards, any other CEC awards, future/contingent awards from other entities (public or private), or the cost or value of the project work site. Also, Food and beverage industries and related support facilities that are receiving funding for the same project, or portions of the same project, from the CEC’s Food Production Investment Program (FPIP) are ineligible for funding from the INDIGO Program or to use funds received from FPIP as match funds.
 
18. I.D.3 Costs that may be covered by matching funding includes “technology certification.” Considering that eligible technologies must be TRL9 – what does this cost refer to you? Do you have an example?

CEC: The minimum TRL requirement for this solicitation is TRL 6. Technology certification that could be covered by match funds may include but is not limited to testing and certification fees, listing or qualification program fees, and interoperability and industry certifications. 

19. I.K. Matching Funding – states that match funding does not include “cost or value of the project site.” Is this a reference to the value of land if land procurement is required as part of the project? Please clarify what this is referring to.

CEC: Land procurement – whether before or during the project term - would be considered a cost or value of the project site and is therefore an ineligible use of match funds. The value of the site facility is also ineligible to qualify as match. 

20. I.K. Matching Funding – states that “if the applicant is leveraging or pursuing funding from multiple sources of the GGRF.” What does GGRF stand for?

CEC: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF), which is generated from the sale of state-owned allowances through California’s quarterly Cap-and-Invest auction. More information can be found here: California Climate Investments Funded Programs | California Air Resources Board. 

21. Match financing — What documentation is required to prove match financing at the application stage?

CEC: In Section I.K. Match Funding, Signed Commitment/Support Letters are required: 
All applications that include match funds must submit commitment letters, including applicant, subrecipients, sub-subrecipients, and vendors that: (1) identify the source(s) of the funds; (2) justify the dollar value claimed; (3) provide an unqualified (i.e., without reservation or limitation) commitment that guarantees the availability of the funds for the project; and (4) provide a strategy for replacing the funds if they are significantly reduced or lost. Please see Commitment and Support Letters Form Attachment. Commitment and support letters must be submitted with the application to be considered.  
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